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At the census of 1881 the population numbered 10,939, and at that of
1801, 14,346, The Medical Officer of Health estimated, in his annual report
for 1897, that the population during that year was 19,540.  This figure, however,
there is reason to believe, was too high. The number of occupied houses at
the end of September 1898 was 5,830, according to a return from !:he
rate-books which was made for the purposes of this report ; and, assuming
that the average number of occupants per house was much the same as it was
shown to be at the last two censuses, namely, 4'8, it would appear that the
population was, at the middle of 1898, some 18,000. The rateable value is
£66,106, and the assessable value for general purposes £55,142. The district
is divided into three wards—North, Central, and South,

Gainshorough is a manufscturing town, the principal industry being the
manufacture of engines, boilers, and agricultural machines, Other considerable
industries are the preparation of malt, and the manufacture of oil and eake from
seed,  Many years ago, before railways were constructed, a large river trade was
carried on, for Gninsﬁnmugh was the principal tmnshilln ing place for s of all
kinds en route from the sea to towns, situated on the Trent and its tributaries, in
Nottinghamshire, Derbyshire, and Staffordshire. The advent of railways
diverted this trade, but the Britannia Machine Works, which now give
employment to some 3,500 men in the town, have rapidly developed, and
have replaced the trade lost through discontinuance of the river traffic.

Saxirany CIRCUMSTANCES,

Ihrellings.—The majority of the houses are occupied by persons of the
working clase.  In the older and more central parts of the town there are
many courts and alleys, known locally as “ yards,” in which houses are
d-E;IIHEl}' crowded together. Pllee::it‘lg along Lord Street, Market Street, and Spl.';.[lg
Gardens ; along Chureh Street, Silver Street, and Bridge Street, as far south as
the bridge over the River Trent ; and along Back Street and DBeaumont Street
to Southolme ; * yards " are to be found at intervals for the most part of a few
paces, Commonly,a* yard " is reached by an arched opening from one or other
of the above-named streets, and it consists, in many caszes, of but a single row
of houses facing a narrow passage which separates such row from the rear of a
similar row of houses. In other cases, houses face the passage or  yard " on
both sides ; or perhaps the * yard ™ may be very irregular, intricately winding ;
sometimes it will lead through another archway to an inner yard of ge
same deseription. Occasionally a * yard ™ may be in the nature of a square,
with houses on three or four sides of an open space of some size. DBut whatever
the precise arrangement may be, it is very rare to find any through ventilation
of houses in these * yards ;* where something of the kind does exist it is generally
by provision of a small grating or window in the back wall of a house Some
of the * yards " communicate with a street at either end, and many of these
are used by foot-passengers as the readiest means of transit from one street to
another ; but a considerable number of ** yards " communicate with one street
only.  As regards dwellings in * yards,” therefore, deficiency of light and
j‘ulltillut;mn is common, while the eirculation of air about such houses iz much
impeded,

The houses in these * yards ™ are built for the most part of brick, althongh
some are constructed of timber. Numbers of them appeared to be so damp
or dilapidated from age and neglect as to be unfit for human habitation ; many,
indeed, are at the present time unoccupied, owing to the emigration of the
tenants to houses recently built towards the outskirts of the fown. The
rate-books show that some 320 houses in the town were unoccupied at the
end of September 1898, the bulk of which are said to be in the *yards”
referred to.

Of more recent erection than the dwellings just deseribed are many houses
which, though not arranged in © yards,” are nevertheless much crowded together.
As examples, Britannin Cottages and Blackburn Buildings may be mentioned.
These honses, and others similar to them, are usually built upon rectangularly
shaped plots of ground, in such a manner that the whole surface is in
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cases they are in actual contact with it. As examples of the latter, may be
mentioned :—

Dvust’s Yard.—A midden, 10 ft. by 10 ft., and three privies are in contact
with the back wall eommon to two t]'l.\'e{]ing houses. This wall is damp, and
forms, inside, a portion of the larder in one of the houses. In both houses
offensive smells are said to be noted at times.

Long Row—A corner house, No. 12, is in contact with a midden and two
privies. The wall inside the dwelling iz damp and forms part of a eupboard
where food is kept.  The tenant eomplained that the stench in the cupboard was
at times abominable.

Chapel Yard —A house occupied by Mrs. H is very damp, and adjoins
on one side a midden and three privies, the former of which contained a quantity
of water. A stable also adjoins this house.

Many of the middens seen during my inspection were over full. Some
contained water, and, in a few cases, their fluid contents were observed to be
leaking through the brickwork. Others, again, were much dilapidated, and
in several instances the roofs were seen to be imperfect. Scavengers u
contract with the Council are supposed to empty and cleanse these structures,
during the night-time, at least once in three monthe, and although several people
complained that this interval was often prolonged, in some eases to nine or even
twelve months, most concurred that there had been considerable improvement
recently. Fouling of the adjacent ground evidently takes place during the
process of emptying of middens, in spite of prohibition of this in the con-
tracts.  In noease, it is said, is it now necessary to remove the contents of these
receptacles through a dwelling house. -

It appears that the privy-midden system supplies accommodation for 2,455
houses, 1,060 of which possess separate privies.

But in 1595 the Council, following the advice of the Surveyor and of a
deputation of their number which visited various towns in the Midlands,
authorised the experimental adoption of the Goux system of movable receptacles
on a limited scale. The Surveyor, in a recent report on the result of this trial,
states that there are some 205 closets of this deseription. A wooden pail, lined
with “ shoddy ™ as the absorbent material, is provided once a week during the
daytime by a seavenger, who at the same time removes the one in use to his
depit. Tﬁiu system appeared to be attended to regularly,

In other houses—about 100 it is said—a pail system is in use, the
receptacles, which in these eases are constructed of galvanized iron, being emptied
omee a week during the night-time by a contractor, but not removed.

Other houses, again, in a few of the * yards,” are provided with trough
closets with automatic flushing apparatus.

All other dwellings, s=ome 1,300 in number, are said to be served by water-
closots,
_As regards the majority of those houses where privies do not exist the
midden has been abolished and replaced by movable ash bins for weekly collections
of honse refuse.

In regard to houses adjoining the river, refuse is commonly east into the water
or upon the river bank. Several soil pipes discharge directly into the river:
a privy outlet, covered with sacking, was observed, with the privy-wall between it
and the water streaked with filth, and several heaps of refuse were seen on the
mud foreshore waiting for a high tide to remove them. In one instance, there
was observed upon the top of an incline sloping towards the river an accumulation
composed of house refuse and the contents of privies, which, it is said, could only
be swept away on the occasion of very high tides. This nuisance, which was
extremely offensive, was eight feet from an entrance to a common lodging
house, and adjoined a warchouse.

Sewerdage.—A scheme of sewers for the town was designed in 1855, and
was carried out and completed in 1857. To what extent the original scheme,
of which the plans are in existence now, was adhered to is not exactly known :
in some cases, it is said, sewers have not been found where indicated.  The plans,
moreover, show the course of certuin brick sewers which were in use antecedent
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draing conneeted with them. This, indeed, has occurred to an extent sufficient.
to cause vigible overflow through surface inlets in house drams ; and in
this connection it is important to note that for every oceasion on which
it oecurs to this extent, the oceasions on which it does so0 to an extent short
only of visible overflow are probably much more numerous. No doubt, also,
whether it is visible or invisible, this heading back of sewage in sewers and
in house deains involves the escape of their contents into the soil around them,
and must aggravate in a serious manner that soil pollution which is so common
in this town.

Water Supply.—The water supply of the district is under the control of
the District Council, the water-undertaking having been purchased from a
company in 1871, for £11,000. The works are situated at the southern end of
the town near the River Trent, and water, derived partly from the river, partly
from a well, iz pumped from them through a rising main, % inches in diameter,
to a high level reservoir at Summer Hill, about a mile distant. The rising
main traverses the town and supplies distributing mains on the way, so that
surplus water only passes into the reservoir, which is 103 feet above the works..
Some thirty houses are at a higher level than this, and the requisite pressure for
their supply is obtained by means of a * stand-pipe ™ on the rising main near
the reservoir,

The above arrangements are, however, in course of alteration. A new
rising main, 14 inches in diameter, has been laid down, which will, in super-
session of the B-inch rising main, convey water direct from the works to the
above reservoir, and also to another of larger capacity alongside it, as well as
to a tank at the top of a water tower. From these receptacles water will
gravitate through the old rising main to supply the town. The eapacity of
the old reservoir i= 656,176 u‘rﬁlﬂnsl and that of the new one iz 1,004,350
gallons, while that of the tank in the water tower is 6,626 gallons. The con-
struction of the new reservoir has been completed. Both it and the old one
are elevated considerably above the level of the roadway adjoining, and both are
uncovered. The new water tower is also practically complete.®

Reverting to the waterworks themselves near the river, it appears that
when the late Local Board purchased the undertaking, the supply consisted
entirely of water derived from the river. As that source is still made use ofy.
it is necessary to trace the course of this water from the river to the town.
The intake from the river is situated at the Great Northern Railway Company's
depdt, about 360 feet only above the nearest sewage outfall from the town, the
water gravitating into an underground tank constructed, it is said, of brick and
cement, close to the river, From this tank, water iz pumped to the works and
passes into a subsiding tank, 80 ftr. by 30 ft. by 121 fr. deep,t whenee it is drawn
off from the surface by floating arms to two filtering tanks, each of which measures
30 ft. by 56 ft. by 9 ft. deep.  Here it pnsses continuously through 2 fi. 4 in, of
sandd of varving degrees of fineness and 12 inches of coarse vel, to
channels on the floor of the tanks, whence it is conveyed to the * pure-
water 7 tank, the inlet to which, for the filtered water, is at its bottom.
From the latter tank, which measures 70 fi. by 50 ft. by 7 ft. deep, water
gravitates agnin to a pumping well adjoining ti’le engine house, whence it is
pumped into the rising main,  All the tanks in the works are uncovered.

Doubts as to the purity of the river water having been entertained,
the late Local Board determined in 1885 to drive a bore-hole on the
site of the waterworks through the marls into the sandstone rock under-
lying them, Mr. Dalton, Mr. De Rance, and other Engineers being of opinion
that a plentiful supply of pure soft water would be obtasined from this
source. A loan for this 'wurl{ was sanctioned by the Doard. The sandstone
rock proved to be ata greater depth than had been anticipated, but eventually all
difficulties were overcome and the present bore-hole Eac:a.me established. It
extends to a depth of 1,351 feet 7 inches from the surface, of which 725 feet are in

_© The new reservoir and water tower have been formally opened since the above was
written, b

t Up tothe date of the eommencement of the other new works, described below,
there was another subsiding tunk 'of the same alze,
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During this small-pox outbreak the then Local Board issued a tariff setting
forth the charges that would be made on account of patients treated at the
hospital, and requiring a written guarantee from some responsible person that
such charge in each instance would be paid. The charge per week demanded
under this tariff, which still exists, varies from five to ten shillings for children
under five, to £1 or £2 for persons of 12 years of age and upwards. (See

Appendix I1.)

A caretaker, who is the wife of a water inspector employed by the Council,
is in charge of the hospital. For this duty she receives no remuneration,
but is allowed 3s. Gd. per week during the winter months to provide fuel for
airing the wards.  She lives with her husband in the administrative block, and in
her kitchen the sheets and blankets for the wards are kept. The interior of the
hospital was, generally, in a clean condition, and had recently been painted and
whitewashed, but the grounds immediately surrounding the buildings were in a
very neglected condition.

The Medical Officer of Health is Mr, Horsley Wilkinson, M.B. (Viet.),
who has been in office since July, 1897. His salary i= £20 per annum, none
of which is repaid out of county funds. He makes monthly reports to the
Council on the mortality returns, but does not attend any meetings of that
body or of the Sanitary Committee unless he is specially summoned. He had
in this way attended three meetings sinee his appointment.  He does not make
systematic inspection of the district, and does not supervise the work of the
inspector of nuisanees, although oceasionally he has drawn the latter official's
attention to nuisances which he has observed in the conrse of his private practice
in the town. He has made special reports on overcrowding, and on nuisances
connected with privies, and he has made a representation under the
Housing of the Working Classes Act, 1890, as to 13 houses unfit for human
habitation.

The Inspector of Nuisances is  Mr. Frederick Penny, who has been in office
for some eight or nine years. His salary, which at first was £30, is now £50
per annum, none of which is repaid out of county funds. He holds no other
paid public appointment. This officer, who has no special .{’lualiﬁcatimu for
sanitary work, 15 nearly 60 years of age, and took up inspector’s work after his
retirement from business asa cabinet maker. He makes no systematic inspection
of the dwellings in the district, and his principal work appears to consist in
supervising the work of the scavengers. h‘r‘&ll in this, however, he appears to
exercise little or no system ; “ he takes a walk round indiscriminately alon
the ten-foots to sec if he can find any nuisances in the privies or closets.” Hg
note is made by him of these inspections, except as regards any midden or privy
which may seem to him to require attention by the scavenger. His official
daily journal is not uwsed as such, and no record of complaints is kept. Cow-
sheds, milkshops, and slaughterhouses are said to be inspected by him once a
month, but bakehouses and workshops are not ilmp&cm‘, In the premilin%
circumstances of Gainshorough, however, the proper supervision of the scavengers
work may be thought of as sufficient for even an energetic man’s whole time
services, and as leaving him little opportunity of dealing with nuisances, especially
those of a recurring nature, or with structural and other defects in and about
dwellings, such as should obtain the sustained attention of an Inspector of
Nuisances.  As a fact, nuisances abound in all parts of the district. Those
resulting from privy middens, in consequence of their infrequent cleansin
as well as of their defective structure, have already been mentioned.  But, besides
these, such nuisances as those ansing from pig-keeping, offensive stables,
manure accumulations, defective and fl‘{'.'ﬂuﬂlltllj-' blocked house drains and
gullies, defective sinks and rain-water pipes causing dampness in houses, and
from imperfect paving in many of the yards, as well as nuisances occurring
inside dwellings, were frequently observed during my visit.

_ The other officers employed by the Council are as follows :—The Clerk
is Mr. D. M. Robbs, and his remuneration is £275 per annum. He is o
solicitor in practice in the town, and holds other public appointments of a similax
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remaining cases in eonnection with articles of food. For example, the supply
of milk to the invaded houses was in the hands of no fewer than 16 PUrveyors,.
the majority of whom obtained their milk from separate sources. (Juestions
were asked as recards such food as oysters, but nothing in common in
this connection was found. Likewise, there was no :spﬁl‘:i-*l-l‘ incidence upon
houses drained to any particular sewer outfall. Of the houses invaded, 25 were-
provided with privies, 5 with “ pails,” and 16 with water closets. In some:-
of the latter houses, gross sanitary defects had been discovered in connection
with the water closets or the drains.

All the invaded houses were supplied with water from the town
mains except one, the occupiers of which had also obtained a-nq]:l water,.
their own supply derived from a well on the premises being said to be
unfit for use, This community of eircumstance is consistent with the disease-
having been water-borne ; but, except, perhaps, in one respeet, there is little in
the history of fever in Gainsborough either during the limited period now under-
review, or during the past 10 years, to suggest, primd facie, that drinking water
had large concern in its prevalence. The disease has appeared to a lﬂlmrknbg
even extent year by vear, without special outbursts on a large scale wi
intervening periods of comparative freedom such as might have been expected
had the prineipal agent of fever diffusion been water. Moreover, although
after 1889 water from the deep well was regularly supplied to the town,
there has been no diminution of fever since that year, i[‘ the experience ol
1898 and the year immediately preceding, so far as is shown by the cuses
which are known to have occurred, may be taken as a guide, it serves to
indieate that the disease is ever present to some extent, with a seasonal tendency
to increase in amount during the autumn and winter months. This tendency,.
which iz confirmed, generally, by the experience of medical practitioners in
the town, also points here to causes other than the public water supply.

If it be azsumed that the water supply has had no part in Gainsborough
in the causation of fever, it must be confessed that the other conditions
which might be regarded as responsible for the fostering of this disease
conld hardly be more numerous or more highly developed. The principal
method of exerement and refuse disposal already described, the inefficient
drainage of dwellings in the © yards,” the innumerable other filth and manure
nuisances, and the inadequate and defective sewers and house drains,.
together with the dangerous conditions attaching to the sewer outlets,.
provide means for pollution of the soil with filth to an extent which, in
the aggregate, must be very large indeed. At the same time facilities for the -
addition of actually infected matter to such polluted soil could scarcely be greater
than at Gainsborough, for no steps have been taken to exclude the infective -
discharges of persons ill with fever from the middens or from any of the other
above channels for the contamination of the soil.  Although it is not in the nature
of things possible to state exactly how many cases have oceurred during the last
decade to produce the fever mortality which has been witnessed, it may be fairly
assumed that there must have been not fewer than 450 to 500 suffevers,.
distributed no doubt all over the town. The magnitude of the unchecked
addition to Gainshorough soil of specific infective matter may be deduced from
thi= estimate. And, asin the light of recent researches, it would appear that the
micro-organism of typhoid fever is able to multiply and flourish in soil which is
contaminated with organic filth, the facilities for soil pollution plus contamination
with infective matter, such as exist uncontrolled in Gainshorough, become very
important and may readily account for the persistence there of this ventable
dizease. Corroborative of this, to some extent, is the tendency which the fever-
appears to possess of showing itself rather more in those parts of the town
where the faulty system of exerement disposal might be expected to cause a
maximum pollution of the soil—auch as wl!mm the midden privies are the most
abundant and spread over the widest aren—than in those places, the © yards ™ for
example, where these appliances are localised, and are provided on the smallest
seale.  Recurrence of the disease in particular houses, though oceupied by
different families, points in the same direction.

But, on the other hand, the invasion of recently built houses in the outlying
portions of the town scems at first sight to point to a source of infection not
connected with soil pollution, although the neglect of the Couneil to require
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that there will very soon be a plentiful supply of water, there need be no:
obstacle to the universal adoption of the water-carringe system. Where
middens and privies are abolished, their sites and the soil in their neighbourhood
should be thoroughly cleansed.

Systematic and sustained inspection of the district is also essential, im
order to improve the dwellings of the working classes, especially those of obsolete:
construction, and to seek out and ensure the removal of filth and other nuisances.
in the town, Repeated inspection, too, of new dwellings during construction is
altogether imperative for every reason. There is, undoubtedly, plenty of -
for the improvement of the town by radical alterations of those parts special
crowded with dwellings, through the powers conferred Ly Parts 1. and Il
of the Housing of the Working Classes Act, 1800, and no time conld be more:
favourable for schemes of this sort than the present, when so many * yard ™
houses are vacant. In any case, those dwellings which are s0 dilapidated.
or damp as to be untit for habitation should be elosed.

The Council should forthwith cease to deny themselves those sources.
of information and advice of which they have the power to avail themselves.
Instead of continuing the appointment of the Medieal Officer of Health on
such terms that he can scarcely be expected to devote the time needed to.
adequately perform even his statutory duties, and still less those others.
which are commonly regarded as attaching to such a post, the Counecil
should appoint him on such termns that he ean do his work thoroughly,.
and, moreover, they should encourage him to do so. Similarly, an active,
properly qualified fnﬁpaetﬂl' of Nuisances, with adequate remuneration, should
be appointed, and he should not be burdened with extraneous duties, such as,
that of supervising the scavengers’ work. These officers, if appointed under
proper conditions, should be constantly submitting information, such as will
lead to full knowledge of the state of the town, of which it must be sup
that the Couneil have been hitherto in ignorance, for it cannot be credited that if
such information bad been regularly nnﬁ: repeatedly available, so little progress.
in sanitary improvement would have been made. The action taken by the
Couneil in connection with the water supply is an instance of what they ean du,.
in spite of sustained opposition, in a matter where knowledge as to the needs of
the town has been obtained, and it justifies a hope that they will now turn
their attention seriously to other shortcomings of the distriet.

Az regards the neglect of the Cﬂu‘!lﬂﬁg to adopt the Infections Disease.
(Notifieation) Act, it should now he abundantly elear to them that it has had
serious results.  Publicity of the facts which it elicits is not, in practice, the out--
come of its adoption,  Even if such were the case, however, the Council should.
regard notification as providing an essential source of information without which
the control of preventable disease, for which they are respongible in Gainsborough, .
is very seriously hindered.  Just as preventable dizease is a disgrace to a ]mlﬁtj
and to its governing bady, so should it be superfluous in these days to recom-
mend the adoption of this Act, for it enables the cause of such sickness to be
sought out at once, and its power for further mischief to be possibly
arnulled.  The Council should also cease to discourage the inhabitants from using
their own hospital, for sueh is the practical effect of the tarift and condi-
tions in foree. They should, on the contrary, encournge its use by every
means in their power, on the ground that isolation in such a 'Imiit'ling of
persons suffering, throngh no fault of their own, from infections disease, is
necessary, not so much for the welfare of the sufferers, as for the protection
of the community, The provision of an efficient disinfecting apparatus is also .
highly necessary, and, when provided, facilities for its use az a matter of
routine would, no doubt, follow in due course, as well as the adoption of the
various other preventive measures of an administrative character, which have
been adverted to :l]r‘l_‘:td}'.

[ desire, in conclusion, to express my best thanks to Sir Hickman Bacon,
the Lord of the Manor, to Mr, James Marshall, the President of the Distriet
Nurses’ Association, to Mf. Dixon, the Chairman of the Urban Distriet Council,
to Mr. Horsley Wilkinson, the Medical Officer of Health, and to Mr. Riley, the
Surveyor, for valuable information. To the latter and to Mr. Penny, the
Inspector of Nuisances, I am also indebted, for assistance during my inqu'fry.

L. W. DARRA MAIR.

January, 1899,















